IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 11-1281 LOWER TRIBUNAL CASE NO. 3D10-2563

LEDUAN DIAZ,

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL THIRD DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

Maggie Arias POZO, GOLDSTEIN & GOMEZ, LLP 2121 S.W. Third Avenue, 5th Floor Miami, Florida 33129

Telephone: (305) 856-0400 Facsimile: (305) 856-0401

Email:maggie.arias@pozogolstein.com

ROBBINS, TUNKEY, ROSS, AMSEL, RABEN & WAXMAN, P.A. 2250 S.W. Third Avenue, 4th Floor

Miami, Florida 33129 Telephone: 305/858-9550 Facsimile: 305/858-7491

Email: benjiwaxman@aol.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Diaz moved for postconviction relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, claiming ineffective assistance of counsel due to trial counsel's failure to advise him that accepting a plea would subject him to deportation. The trial court summarily denied the motion. On appeal, after granting rehearing and withdrawing its prior per curiam affirmance without opinion, the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed. It did so based on *Hernandez v. State*, 3D10-2263 (Fla. 3d DCA April 6, 2011). *Hernandez* certified as questions of great public importance (1) whether the immigration warning in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(8) bars immigration-based ineffective assistance of counsel claims brought pursuant to *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 599 U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010), and (2) whether the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla* should be applied retroactively.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Does the immigration warning in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(8) bar immigration-based ineffective assistance of counsel based on *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 599 U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010)?
- II. Whether the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 599 U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010), obliging defense counsel to advise non-citizen

defendants of the deportation consequences of their guilty pleas, should apply retroactively in postconviction proceedings?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision below was affirmed solely based on the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in *Hernandez v. State*, 3D10-2462 (Fla. 3d DCA April 6, 2011). *Hernandez* certified as issues of great public importance (1) does the immigration warning in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(8) bar immigration-based ineffective assistance of counsel claims brought pursuant to *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 599 U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010), and (2) whether *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 599 U.S. ____, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010), applies retroactively. The decision below was resolved based on these identical issues. Because the decision below was paired with *Hernandez*, this court has jurisdiction to review it. *Jollie v. State*, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

REASONS FOR EXERCISING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

This court should exercise jurisdiction and review the decision below because, as reflected by its singular citation to *Hernandez*, it raises both certified questions of great public importance recited above. The pairing of *Diaz* with *Hernandez* provides a basis for jurisdiction in this court. *See Jollie v. State*, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981). *Cf. Maddox v. State*, 760 So.2d 89, 94 & n. 2 (Fla. 2000)

(consolidating some 50 cases for review that raised same issue though on different jurisdictional bases, some based on PCA's that cited another decision certifying question of great public importance); *Coyne v. State*, 755 So.2d 108 (Fla. 2000) (accepting jurisdiction and ruling upon case solely because the lower court's PCA cited a case which was pending at time in Florida Supreme Court on a question of great public importance);

Since the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in *Hernandez*, the Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have also certified the question of *Padilla's* retroactivity as one of great public importance. *Berrios-Cruz v. State*, 2D10-4774 (Fla. 2d DCA June 10, 2011); *Castano v. State*, No. 5D10-2032 (Fla. 5th DCA June 17, 2011). *Berrios-Cruz* noted that its decision "carries with it significant implications for the treatment of pleas entered prior to *Padilla*." *Id.* at *1. It would be most efficient for this court to consider these cases together to resolve the common question of *Padilla's* retroactivity.

Regarding the second issue certified in *Hernandez* to be one of great public importance and raised in the case below, whether Rule 3.172(c)(8)'s warning bars the related IAC claim under *Padilla*, also certified conflict on this issue with *Flores v. State*, 57 So.2d 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). *Hernandez* (as did the court below) held that a judge's deportation warning did NOT bar a defendant's related claim of

ineffective counsel. *Flores* held that the judge's warning does bar such a claim. *Castano*, which aligned itself with *Flores* on this issue, certified conflict with *Hernandez*. The fact that the decision below raises this issue too is further reason to review it.

CONCLUSION

The petitioner respectfully requests this court to review the decision below.