IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. **SC11-1281** Lower Tribunal Case No. 3D10-2563

LEDUAN DIAZ,

Petitioner,

-VS-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Chief Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 230987

TIMOTHY R.M. THOMAS Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 24959 Department of Legal Affairs Office of the Attorney General 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (phone) (305) 377-5655 (facsimile)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Leduan Diaz, as Defendant in the trial court, moved for postconviction relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, claiming ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to properly advise him of the deportation consequences of his plea, pursuant to Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. _____, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010). Diaz v. State, 65 So. 3d 1079, 1080 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). The trial court summarily denied his claim, and the district court affirmed on October 20, 2010, citing Flores v. State, 57 So. 3d 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010)(trial court's warning cured any prejudice from counsel's misadvice under *Padilla*), and Bermudez v. State, 603 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)(trial court's warning cured prejudice flowing from counsel's misadvice regarding deportation any consequences of his plea). Diaz v. State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D2328 (Fla. 3d DCA, Oct. 20, 2010). On November 4, 2010, Defendant moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc, or to certify questions of great public importance.

On May 25, 2011, the district court withdrew its prior opinion and substituted the opinion for which Defendant now seeks discretionary review. The

¹ The district court's docket reflects the fact that a response to the appeal was neither ordered by the court nor filed by the State, consistent with *Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b)(2)(C)*.

revised opinion granted rehearing by the original panel, and now affirmed on the basis of the opinion in *Hernandez v. State*, 61 So. 3d 1144 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011), *reh'g and reh'g en banc denied* (June 17, 2011), which had just been released by a different panel of the same court the month before.²

Defendant filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on June 28, 2011, and this Court, *sua sponte*, issued its order on July 15, 2011, staying further proceedings pending disposition of *Hernandez v. State*, Case No. SC11-941. On Defendant's motion to lift that stay and permit briefing on the merits, this court granted the motion in part and ordered the State to file its answer brief on jurisdiction, which now follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court has discretion to grant jurisdiction in this case, but should exercise that discretion to stay or limit the issues briefed and reviewed to avoid duplication of efforts and a waste of judicial resources.

² Notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on the basis of a certified question of great public importance was filed in the district court by the defendant in *Hernandez* on May 5, 2011, and a subsequent motion to stay remained pending until this Court's order of July 19, 2011, consolidating the separate cases of the defendant and the State.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THIS COURT SHOULD EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION TO STAY OR LIMIT REVIEW IN THIS CASE.

The State agrees that because the opinion below cites as controlling authority a decision that is pending review in this Court, there exists *prima facie* express conflict which would allow this Court to exercise its jurisdiction. *Jollie v. State*, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981). Of course, dozens of cases out of the Third District, and no doubt many more across the state, stand in the same procedural posture, and can make the same claim to jurisdiction. To allow multiple litigants to separately brief and argue the merits of issues common to each would be a colossal waste of judicial resources, and selfishly, a tremendous drain on the resources of the State, as respondent in each case.

The decision in *Hernandez* addressed two questions, each certified to this Court on different bases. The second of these questions asked, as a question of great public importance, "should the ruling in *Padilla* be applied retroactively?" *Hernandez*, 61 So. 3d at 1146 (*citing*, *Padilla* v. *Kentucky*, 559 U.S. ____, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010)). This is a pure question of law, and there is no profit to consideration of the same question simultaneously in multiple cases. What's more, if the decision in *Hernandez* is affirmed on this basis, it is dispositive in this case, without need for consideration of the other certified question.

However, the other question certified by the court below in *Hernandez* is not a pure question of law. That question was presented and analyzed first in the opinion below, and framed as: "Does the immigration warning in *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(8)* bar immigration-based ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Padilla* . . . ?" *Hernandez*, 61 So. 3d at 1145-46. This question is fact specific, because it addresses whether the particular defendant is able to show "the prejudice necessary to obtain relief for ineffective assistance of counsel" under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Hernandez*, 61 So. 3d at 1147. The basis stated by the court below for certifying this question was that it "expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in *Flores v. State*, 57 So. 3d 218 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010)." *Id.* at 1146.

The opinion in *Flores* rested upon a finding that the defendant could not show the prejudice necessary to obtain relief because when he was advised by the trial court that "the plea may result in deportation," that gave rise to "an affirmative duty to speak up if the attorney has promised something different." 57 So. 3d at 220. In *Flores*, the defendant asserted that he entered his plea to a lesser offense upon advice from his attorney that by reducing the charge from a felony to a misdemeanor, "the conviction would not cause him to be deported." *Id.* at 218. In contrast, the defendant's counsel in *Hernandez* "reported that he confined his

immigration-related advice to his clients to the fact 'that a plea could/may affect their immigration status.'" 61 So. 3d at 1146. Here, although not reported in either of the opinions below, Defendant's affidavit asserted: "My attorney advised me that with a 'withhold of adjudication' that I would not likely face any risk of deportation." Other cases currently before this Court involve pleas where no advice whatsoever was given by the defendant's counsel regarding the deportation consequences of a plea. *See*, *e.g.*, *Centeno v. State*, 64 So. 3d 699 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011), *reh'g denied* (July 27, 2011), *review pending*, Case No. SC11-1555 (stayed pending disposition of *Hernandez*).

Each of these cases presents a fact pattern that could be materially different in a prejudice analysis under *Strickland*, though each also presents a question that would be mooted by a decision from this Court that *Padilla* does not apply retroactively. Therefore, the State suggests that this Court stay briefing and argument on the merits in this case until and unless *Hernandez* is decided in such a way that the prejudice question is not mooted. In the alternative, the State requests that jurisdiction, or briefing and argument, be accepted in this case on the limited

³ This affidavit was attached to Defendant's Brief in Support of Leduan Diaz's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief filed in the district court.

question of prejudice, to avoid needless duplication of effort on the question of retroactivity.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments and authorities cited herein, this Court should stay further proceedings, or in the alternative limit the issues considered.